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PART 8. [UNITED STATES] ADMIRALTY/MARITIME, CIVIL RIGHTS, CONSTITUTIONAL 

RIGHTS, AND RICO ACT CLAIMS AGAINST THE UNITED STATES FOR FRAUD AND FALSE 

STATES (18 U.S.C. § 1001), AND VIOLATIONS OF MY FIRST, SECOND, SEVENTH, NINTH 

AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO INTRASTATE, INTERSTATE, NAUTICAL, AND MARITIME TRAVEL 

(NOTICE PLEADING) 

CLAIM 1: Second Amendment Rights of Seamen Long Ignored by Admiralty and 
Maritime Law 

 

Admiralty and maritime law in the United States has long ignored the Second Amendment 
rights  of American merchant seamen aboard U.S. flag vessels1 and ashore in the United States in 
intrastate, interstate travel even though the Merchant Marine Acts and 10 U.S.C. § 351 Arming of 
American Vessels During War or Threat of National Security is explicitly intended for the rights of 
American merchant seamen as recently evidenced by the Somali pirate attack, boarding, and hijacking 
of M/V MEARSK ALABAMA resulting in the deaths of three Somali pirates from sniper fire of U.S. Navy 
Seals aboard the guided missile destroyer USS Bainbridge (DDG-96) at great expense to American 
taxpayers when, in all likelihood, the entire hijacking incident could have been avoided had the 
International Maritime Organization, the U.S. Coast Guard, the U.S. Congress, and the Executive 
Branch of the United States been more favorable to the Second Amendment rights and the human 

                                                      
1 For the purpose of this Complaint for Second Amendment rights (firearms) for U.S. merchant seamen, the term 
U.S. flag vessels excludes oil tankers for their inherent risk of explosion from weapons fire. 

2 C.J.S. Admiralty § 3. Origin, growth, and development—In the United States 

Maritime law is not a complete and perfect system, and its development shows that it was never 
created as a definite all-inclusive body of law. It is not codified, existing only as a species of 
judge-made federal common law. It draws on a number of sources, including the international 
law merchant, congressional enactments, and a considerable body of municipal law, as well as 
both civil law and common law. In the absence of clear precedents in the law of the sea, judges 
look to the law prevailing on the land. On the other hand, in deciding cases in admiralty, courts 
are not bound by common-law rules or inappropriate common-law concepts. It is a federal 
question as to how far principles developed at common law or in equity find a place in the 
amalgam of general maritime law. 

Maritime law is judge made since admiralty jurisdiction changes as new conditions give rise to 
new conceptions of maritime concerns. Absent a relevant statute, general maritime law, as 
developed by the judiciary, applies in an admiralty case. Moreover, in the absence of controlling 
congressional enactments, the Supreme Court has fashioned a large part of the existing rules 
which govern admiralty. However, the role of the courts in the process of change is not to 
revolutionize but to adjust. While there is an established and continuing tradition of federal 
common lawmaking in admiralty, that law is to be developed, insofar as possible, to harmonize 
with enactments of Congress in the field. 

Federal maritime law embraces the principles of the law of agency. Alan, Sean and Koule, Inc. v. 
S/V CORSTA V, 286 F. Supp. 2d 1367 (S.D. Ga. 2003). The analysis of a maritime tort is guided 
by general principles of negligence law. Reed & Reed, Inc. v. Weeks Marine, Inc., 335 F. Supp. 2d 
110 (D. Me. 2004). 
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right to life of American merchant seaman and the human right to life of seamen in all maritime nations 
to armed self-defense against piracy on the high seas.  

CLAIM 2: Congress Continues to Ignore Second Amendment Rights of U.S. Merchant 
Seamen with the Coast Guard Authorization Act of 2010 (H.R. 3619) Explicitly and But 
Nevertheless Has Language Opening the Door for the Restoration of the Rights of 
Seamen under the Second Amendment 

 On October 23, 2009, at 10:57 AM, The U.S. House of Representatives passed the COAST 
GUARD AUTHORIZATION ACT OF 2010 (HR 3619) with a vote of 385 Yeas, and 11 Nays. On October 26 
HR 3619 was received in the U.S. Senate. On November 2, 2009 HR 3619 was read twice and placed 
on the U.S. Senate Legislative Calendar No. 195.  

Amendment A013 (H.AMDT.476) to HR 3619 grants limits on liability for actions taken by an 
owner, operator, time charterer, master or mariner to defend a U.S. flagged vessel against attack by 
pirates. Amendment also requires the secretary of the Department which oversees the Coast Guard to 
work through the INTERNATIONAL MARITIME ORGANIZATION to establish agreements to promote 
coordinated action among flag- and port-states to protect against piracy. That amendment was past by 
voice vote just 58 minutes before passing HR 3619. That amendment became “Section 1334” under 
TITLE XIII—MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS of the COAST GUARD AUTHORIZATION ACT OF 2010 (HR 
3619): 

SEC. 1334. USE OF FORCE AGAINST PIRACY. 

 (a) IN GENERAL.—Notwithstanding title X of this  Act, chapter 81 of 
title 46, United States Code, is amended by adding at the end the 
following new section: 

‘‘[46 U.S.C.] § 8107. Use of force against piracy 

‘‘(a) LIMITATION ON LIABILITY.—An owner, operator, 
time charterer, master, or mariner who uses force, or authorizes 
the use of force, to defend a vessel of the United States against 
an act of piracy shall not be liable participating in the act of 
piracy. 

‘‘(b) PROMOTION OF COORDINATED ACTION.—To  
carry out the purpose of this section, the Secretary of the  
department in which the Coast Guard is operating shall  work 
through the International Maritime Organization to  establish 
agreements to promote coordinated action among flag- and port-
states to deter, protect against, and rapidly respond to acts of 
piracy against the vessels of, and in the waters under the 
jurisdiction of, those nations, and to ensure limitations on 
liability similar to those established by subsection (a).’’ 

(b) CLERICAL AMENDMENT.—The analysis at the beginning of such 
chapter is amended by adding at the end the following new item: 

‘‘8107. Use of force against piracy.’’ 

However, even this amendment does not explicitly define “Use of force piracy against piracy” 
as including or empowering the individual right to keep and bear arms under the Second Amendment 
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for the U.S. flag vessels’ crew subject to the master’s discretion under maritime law as opposed to 
empowering the use of outside private sector contract maritime security companies. This vague 
amendment on the “Use of Force” is, therefore, unconstitutionally vague. 

Because the COAST GUARD AUTHORIZATION ACT OF 2010 (HR. 3619) does not explicitly 
provide for or protect the Second Amendment rights of seamen in general but provides for an 
exemption from liability for the use of force against piracy by an owner, operator, time charterer, 
master, or mariner to defend a vessel of the United States against an act of piracy. It is this vagueness 
and failure to explicity address the rights of seamen as individuals under the Second Amendment that 
makes the COAST GUARD AUTHORIZATION ACT OF 2010 (HR. 3619) prima facie evidence of a 
conspiracy to ignore and deny Second Amendment rights of U.S. merchant seaman by advancing an 
unconstitutional programs for contracting privated armed security services aboard U.S. flag vessels 
instead of advancing the rights and duties of seamen to armed personal security and armed self-
defense under the Second Amendment. This is an ongoing and continuing violation of my Second 
Amendment rights by the U.S. Coast Guard, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, the 
Legislative and the Judicial Branches of the U.S. Government.2. IMO Recently Revised Their Guidance on 
Combating Piracy: But Still Opposed to Firearms Aboard Ship 

The Maritime Safety Committee of the International Maritime Organization recently held their 
86th session, May 27 - June 5, 2009, at their London Headquarters to revise their guidance on 
combating piracy and armed robbery against ships. They reached an agreement on the specific 
guidance relating to continued attacks on ships off the coast of Somalia and in the Gulf of Aden.  

REVISED GUIDANCE ON COMBATING PIRACY AGREED BY  
IMO MARITIME SAFETY COMMITTEE 

June 17, 2009 (Excerpt) 

Revised guidance on combating piracy and armed robbery against ships was agreed by 
IMO’s Maritime Safety Committee (MSC) when it met at the Organization’s London 
Headquarters for its 86th session from 27 May to 5 June. Specific guidance relating to the 
continued attacks on ships off the coast of Somalia and in the Gulf of Aden was also 
agreed.  

The packed agenda also covered the adoption of amendments to the International 
Convention for the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), including a new regulation to make 
the carriage of electronic charts mandatory, and the approval of goal-based standards for 
new oil tankers and bulk carriers, for future adoption.  

PIRACY AND ARMED ROBBERY AGAINST SHIPS 

The MSC reviewed the latest statistics on piracy and armed robbery against ships, in 
particular off the coast of Somalia and in the Gulf of Aden, where ships continue to be 
attacked and hijacked, despite the concerted efforts of the international community, 
spearheaded by IMO, navies and the industry, to protect shipping. The number of acts of 
piracy and armed robbery against ships reported to the Organization to have occurred in 
2008 was 306, against 282 during 2007, representing an increase of 8.5 per cent. In the 
first four months of 2009, 157 incidents were reported to IMO. 

The MSC agreed updated Recommendations to Governments for preventing and 
suppressing piracy and armed robbery against ships; and Guidance to shipowners and 
ship operators, shipmasters and crews on preventing and suppressing acts of piracy and 
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armed robbery against ships. The guidance to shipmasters and crew includes a new 
annex aimed at seafarers, fishermen and other mariners who may be kidnapped or held 
hostage for ransom, based on the current United Nations guidance on surviving as a 
hostage. 

An MSC circular on Piracy and armed robbery against ships in waters off the coast of 
Somalia was agreed, to include Best Management Practices to Deter Piracy in the Gulf of 
Aden and off the Coast of Somalia, which have been developed by industry 
organizations, and additional guidance to vessels engaged in fishing, identified as being 
particularly vulnerable to attack.  

The MSC agreed that flag States should strongly discourage the carrying and 
use of firearms by seafarers for personal protection or for the protection of a 
ship. Seafarers, it was agreed, are civilians and the use of firearms requires 
special training and aptitudes and the risk of accidents with firearms carried 
on board ship is great. 2  Carriage of arms on board ship may encourage 
attackers to carry firearms or even more dangerous weapons, thereby 
escalating an already dangerous situation. Any firearm on board may itself 
become an attractive target for an attacker.3 Carriage of firearms may pose an 
even greater danger if the ship is carrying flammable cargo or similar types of dangerous 
goods. 

It was agreed that the use of unarmed security personnel is a matter for individual 
shipowners, companies, and ship operators to decide. The carriage of armed security 
personnel, or the use of military or law-enforcement officers (duly authorized by the 
Government of the flag State to carry firearms for the security of the ship) should be 
subject to flag State legislation and policies and is a matter for the flag State to authorize, 
in consultation with ship owners, companies and ship operators. 

The MSC also agreed proposed amendments to the Code of practice for the investigation 
of the crimes of piracy and armed robbery against ships (resolution A.922(22)), for 
consideration by the IMO Assembly later this year.  

The IMO/MSC’s argument is pure and unadulterated pro-government as the argument employs 
false logic. The IMO/MSC’s claim that seafarers are civilians exposes IMO’s political ideology that only 
government and law enforcement are to have firearms. This policy stands repugnant to the 
Constitution of the United States, the Bill or Rights, and the Right to Life provisions of human rights 
treaties. Another insult to seamen of all maritime nations is the use of firearms requires special training 
and aptitudes. Firearms are LESS complicated than deck machinery aboard ships requiring just as 
much aptitude for safety and common sense as firearms. Another false argument is the risk of accidents 
with firearms carried on board ship is great. Risk of accidents are no more likely and perhaps even less 
likely with firearms than with deck machinery. 

  

                                                      
2 Bullshit! 
3 Lloyds of London and other maritime insurance companies placing fears and liability above the human right 
right to life of seamen through the use of reverse-logic. 
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CLAIM 3: The United States is a Racketeering Enterprise Against the Second 
Amendment, Ninth Amendment Right to Keep and Bear Arms in Intrastate, Interstate, 
Nautical, and Maritkime Travel and Tenth Amendment Power Reserved to the People 
to Enforce the Guarantee of a Republican Form of Government by Failing to Preserve 
the Second Amendment in Federal Law and Admiralty/Maritime Law as a Vital 
Function of the Common Defence as Stipulated in the Preamble to the Constitution of 
the United States and Failure/Refusal to Preempt State and Local Gun Control Laws in 
Violation of the RICO Act 

While the primary purpose of this Complaint is to seek justice and damages for obstructions of 
justice by federal judges and the U.S. Department of Justice and for the U.S. Coast Guard failure to 
act with due care (28 U.S.C. § 2680(a)), and abuse of process, and perhaps even malicious 
prosecution, resulting in my false imprisonment with my Coast Guard ordered removal from a U.S. 
Government vessel of the Pre-Position Fleet anchored off the coast of Lithuania for a consequential 
stay of 12 days culturally and linguistically isolated at Hotel Klaipėda, Lithuania, this Complaint is also 
intended to effect maritime policy of the United States through the Writ of Mandamus for the Second 
Amendment rights of American seamen to the extent that this Complaint is able to effect such changes 
in the Transportation Workers Identification Card (TWIC) and the Merchant Mariner’s Credential 
(MMC) and in federal and state firearms and gun control laws.  

Changes to the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS), the International Ship and Port Facility Security 
Code (ISPS Code), the Maritime Labour Convention4 of 2006 (international treaty) is beyond the 
reach of this Command for any immediate effect. The Petition for Peremptory of Mandamus to 
compel the Admiral Robert Papp, Commandant of the U.S. Coast Guard and Hillary Clinton, 
Secretary of State for the United States in accordance with their Oath of Office to support and defend 
the Constitution of the United States, which includes the Bill of Rights,to address the Second 
Amendment rights and the human right of American merchant seamen to armed self-defense in all 
treaty negotiations, specifically, human rights and maritime treaties, is for the Court to decide.  

In this Complaint I use the Four Corners Rule from contract law for my interpretation of the 
Constitution of the United States because the Constitution is essentially a contract with We the People. 

Black’s Law Dictionary Defines: Four Corners Rule 

The principle that a document’s meaning is to be gathered 
from the entire document and from from its isolated parts. (Cf. 
17A C.J.S. Contracts § 314) 

 Black’s Law Dictionary Defines: Mutuality  

as the state of sharing or exchanging something; a 
reciprocation; an interchange <mutuality of obligation>. 
However, in today’s United States with the Department of 
Homeland Security it appears that mutuality  with the We the 
People of the Constitution is thrown out the window under the 
current homeland security mantra where Government 
considers the People as potential terrorists and places them on 
terrorist watch list. Not the blog from Classical Values: 

                                                      
4 Ratification by Liberia, June 6, 2006; Marshall Islands, September 25, 2007; Bahamas, February 11,2008; 
Panama, February 2, 2009; Norway, February 10, 2009. Not yet ratified by the United States. 
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17A C.J.S. Contracts § 314  
CONSTRUCTION OF CONTRACT AS A WHOLE: GENERALLY  

(case citations omitted) 

In the absence of fraud or concealment on the part of the person who prepared the instrument, a 
contract must be interpreted or considered as a whole, or in its entirety. The intention of the parties 
to a contract is to be ascertained from the entire instrument, and not from isolated words, phrases, or 
provisions. It is necessary to consider all of its parts or provisions in order to determine the meaning 
or any particular part, of or particular language, as well as of the whole. Accordingly, individual 
clauses, paragraphs, provisions, or phrases in an agreement, as well as particular words contained 
therein, must be considered in connection with the rest of the agreement.  

All parts of a contract must be taken into consideration and be given effect, if possible, without 
violating the plain language of the instrument or the clear purpose of the contracting parties. All 
words are to be given effect when consistent with the intent of the parties, and are to be made to 
operate according to that intent. Each provision must be made effective for its general purpose, and 
every word, phrase, or part should be given a meaning or signicance according to its importance in 
the context of the contract.  

A construction neutralizing, nullifying, or annulling one provision should not be adopted if the 
contract can be construed so as to give effect to all of its provisions. Moreover, a construction 
rendering a provision, term, or part meaningless, superfuluous, useless, inexplicable, or nugatory 
should be avoided.  

Disproportionate Emphasis on Particular Words or Parts. 

In construing a contract, disproportionate or undue weight or emphasis should not be placed on 
particular words, parts, or provisions thereof, to the neglect or detriment of others. 

Mutuality. 

In determining whether or not a contract possess mutuality, it is to be construed as a whole, or in its 
entirety. 

 

It is a federal interest that U.S. merchant marine personnel exercise their full scope of Second 
Amendment rights, i.e., NATIONAL OPEN CARRY HANDGUN, as an integral part of national security and 
homeland security. Therefore, this Complaint presents a facial challenge and an as-applied to the 
Plaintiff challenge as a seaman and an as-applied challenge as to third parties under the Jus Tertii 
Doctrine on the constitutionality of 18 U.S.C. § 926A INTERSTATE TRANSPORTATION OF FIREARMS. 

 ADMIRALTY LAW to prove the Second Amendment is intangible property under Rule 
9(h) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure’s Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or 
Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions and to prove the U.S. Coast Guard violated 
my First and Second Amendment rights. 

 COMPARATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW to prove that the full scope of Second 
Amendment rights and the Supremacy Clause require the State Action Doctrine to be 
abolished for the Direct Horizontal Effect of constitutional rights protections so that gun-
free zones whether privately imposed under the guise of property rights or imposed by 
city ordinances or state law would be unconstitutional under the First Amendment right to 
assemble and the right to travel. 
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 THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES to prove 
that Reservations, Understandings, and Declarations (RUDs) have been abusively used in 
human rights treaties to deny the People of the United States their human right to a 
remedy through human rights treaties. 

DISCUSSION 1. CONSPIRARCY TO OBSTRUCT JUSTICE 
For evidence of judicial bias against me as an unrepresented civil plaintiff and/or against my 

Second Amendment case see also Hamrick v. President George W. Bush, U.S. District Court for the 
District of Columbia, No. 03-2160 (RBW), Judge Reggie B. Walton’s MEMORANDUM OPINION AND 
ORDER dated August 16, 2004 dismissing the Complaint with prejudice. The MEMORANDUM OPINION 
AND ORDER came just eight (8) days before the U.S. Department of Justice internally released their 
Memorandum Opinion for the Attorney General [John Ashcroft] on WHETHER THE SECOND 
AMENDMENT SECURES AN INDIVIDUAL RIGHT finding that “The Second Amendment secures a right of 
individuals generally, not a right of States or a right restricted to persons serving in militias.”  

I am certain that a criminal investigation will find obstructions of justice and the criminal 
withholding of evidence vital to that case and a deliberate conspiracy to fast track that Complaint to 
dismissal with prejudice by the termination of one Assistant U.S. Attorney as defense counsel and the 
assignment of a Special Attorney from the Alexandria, Virginia U.S. Attorney’s Office who was 
instrumental in expediting the dismissal before the release of the Justice Department Memorandum on 
the Second Amendment. That in itself is a criminal act of racketeering activity. It should also be noted 
that judicial bias is also evidence in the fact that in none of my Complaints from 2002 to the present 
did any judge exihibit any regard to my Seventh Amendment right to a civil jury trial by even 
suggesting that I file an amended complaint as an Admiralty/Maritime Complaint on the fact that I am 
a U.S. merchant seaman.5 This fact is submitted as evidence of a pattern of racketeering activity and 
evidence of a corrupt judicial system standing in contempt of the Constitution of the United States.  

DISCUSSION 2. CONDUCT OF AN ENTERPRISE THROUGH A PATTERN OF RACKETEERING 

ACTIVITY 
(1) Conduct, (2) of an Enterprise, (3) through a Pattern, (4) of Racketeering Activity,6 are the 

four essential elements to sustain civil racketeering claims. The structure of a RICO Act complaint will 
collapse if any one of the four elements is not present or is not adequately framed. No one of these 
elements is more important than the others, since, as the Supreme Court stressed in Sedima, S.P.R.L. 

                                                      
5 See Arthur v. Maersk, Inc. et al, 3rd Cir. No. 04-3670, (January 13, 2006) SUITS IN ADMIRALTY ACT/PROCEDURE 
(Where Plaintiff seaman amended his complaint to name the United States as defendant in his Jones Act action, 
although the claim was past the two year Suits in Admiralty Act statute of limitations, the amended claim 
nonetheless related back to the original complaint under Rule 15 and was not time barred because: (1) the claim 
in the amended pleading arose out of the “conduct, transaction, or occurrence” set forth in the original pleading; 
(2) within 120 days of institution of the action, the party to be brought in by amendment had received “such 
notice of the . . . action that the party will not be prejudiced in maintaining a defense on the merits”; and, (3) 
within 120 days of institution of the action, the party to be brought in by amendment knew or should have known 
that, “but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party,” the action would have been brought against 
that party.)  

(http://www.admiraltylawguide.com/circt/3rdarthur.pdf see also 
http://www.ca3.uscourts.gov/opinarch/043670p.pdf)    
6 See also U.S. ATTORNEY’S MANUAL, Title 4, Civil Resource Manual § 109 RICO charges. 
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v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, at 496, 105 S.Ct. 3275, at 3285; 87 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1985) ([t]he 
plaintiff must, of course, allege each of these elements to state a claim. Each element must be present 
whether the case is brought under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a), (b), or (c), except that in subsection (a) 
and (b) cases—which are far less common than actions under subsection (c)—the conduct element is 
the acquisition element.)7 

A. Conduct 

Citing Geoffrey P. Miller, BAD JUDGES, 83 Texas Law Review 431, at 432 (December 2004), 
conduct of an enterprise through a pattern of racketeering activity that violates the RICO Act and the 
ABA’s MODEL CODE OF JUDICIAL CONDUCT (1990) for federal judges has occurred during the course of 
my litigation as a civil plaintiff between 2002 and the present. Relevant examples are: 

(1) Corrupt influence on judicial action; [p. 433]. 

Issue corrupt rulings in civil matters; [p. 433]. 

If a matter is not before them, they commandeer it; [p. 434]. 

Misappropriating case files; [p. 434]. [motions and pleadings]; 

(4) Incompetence and neglect of duties; (p. 439). 

  Misunderstand fundamental rights; (p. 440). 

  Rule prematurely; (p. 440). 

Generally display egregious ignorance of the rules that supposedly govern their 
decisions; (p. 440). 

(5) Overstepping of authority and (9) conflict of interest; 

[Judge A in Motion for Recusal recommended my case be assigned to a judge 
in another District. But Judge B in the same District Court as Judge A 
commandeered the case even though Judge B was presiding over another case 
with the same subject matter jurisdiction and dismissing that case stating that 
the Second Amendment does not apply to the citizens of the District of 
Columbia. 

(7) Bias, prejudice, and insensitivity; (p. 445) 

  [Invoking a political ideology as the Rule of Law]. 

(8) Personal misconduct; (p. 447). 

  Obstruct justice (p. 448). [by dismissing cases worthy of a jury trial]. 

The non-judicial Defendants have similar categorical allegations of misconduct related to their 
Oath of Office to support and defend the Constitution of the United States. Each Defendant, both 
judicial and non judicial, are to respond to the Claims in the corresponding Parts in this Complaint. 

                                                      
7 See Paul A. Batista, CIVIL RICO PRACTICE MANUAL, 2nd Ed., Aspen Publishers, New York. (2004), § 3.2 Essential 
Elements: Conduct, Enterprise, Pattern, and Racketeering Acts, p. 52. 
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B. of an Enterprise 

This dispute involves more than one defendant which signals RICO since the presence of 
several defendants creates the basis for fashioning enterprise allegations essential to a racketeering 
complaint. The presence of multiple defendants also opens the avenue to RICO conspiracy claims 
under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(a). I have had dealings with the defendants from 2002 to the present in 
federal litigation and non-litigation activitites in which the defendants have violated my rights. These 
violations signal RICO violations. The passage of time over which acts are committed assists the 
framing of the continuity plus relationship allegations that asre also essential to a RICO complaint.8 
Because I can point to merchant marine personnel under 46 U.S.C. § 2103 and to other people 
employed in then transportation industry possessing the TRANSPORTATION WORKER’S IDENTIFICATION 
CARD (TWIC) under the U.S. Department of Homeland Security and the U.S. Transportation Security 
Administration increases the viability of this RICO Action. 

C. If the State Illinois Can Be a RICO Enterprise then the United States Can Also Be a 
RICO Enterprise 

(1). Brief of the United States in United States v. Lawrence E. Warner & George 
H. Ryan 

Citing the BRIEF OF THE UNITED STATES in United States v. Lawrence E. Warner & George H. 
Ryan, Sr. (former governor of Illinois), 7th Circuit, Nos. 06-3517 and 06-3528 (October 31, 2007) 
(RICO Act) it is my allegation that if the State of Illinois is a RICO Enterprise then the United States is 
equally chargeable as a RICO Enterprise in regard to the Second Amendment: 

IV. THE RICO CHARGE WAS LEGALLY SOUND AND THE INSTRUCTIONS WERE CORRECT. 

A. Standard of Review 

Challenges to the sufficiency of an indictment are reviewed de novo. United States v. 
Smith, 230 F.3d 300, 305 (7th Cir. 2000). A district court’s decision regarding the 
language of a proposed jury instruction is reviewed for abuse of discretion when the 
defendant has made a proper objection. United States v. Irorere, 228 F.3d 816, 825 
(7th Cir. 2000). 

B. Analysis 

1. The State of Illinois Is a Proper RICO Enterprise. 

Count One charged appellants with racketeering conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1962(d). R110:Ct1,¶8(JA240). It alleged that the defendants, acting through Ryan’s 
governmental offices, used the State of Illinois as the enterprise for their illegal activity. 
R110: Ct1, ¶¶ 1, 2, 5, 8 (JA228, 233, 239, 240). Although the statute defines enterprise 
to include any legal entity (18 U.S.C. § 1961(4)), Ryan argues that states cannot be 
enterprises for purposes of the RICO statute. Br56-58. Ryan’s argument overlooks well-
established authority, in this Circuit and others, holding enterprise is broadly construed 
to include governmental and public entities. 

More than twenty-five years ago, in United States v. Grzywacz, 603 F.2d 682, 685-87 
(7th Cir. 1979), this Court held that a public entity (in that case, the Madison, Illinois 
police department) could be charged as the enterprise for racketeering activity. This 

                                                      
8 Id. at 93, § 3.31 Final Observations on the Framing and Prosecution of a Civil RICO Action. 
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Court has reaffirmed that the racketeering statute should be construed broadly and that 
public and governmental entities may be charged as enterprises. United States v. 
Hocking, 860 F.2d 769, 778 (7th Cir. 1988) (state Department of Treasury), overruled 
on other grounds, United States v. Levy, 955 F.2d 1098, 1103n.5 (7th Cir. 1992); 
United States v. Conn, 769 F.2d 420, 424-25 (7th Cir. 1985) (Cook County Circuit 
Court); United States v. Kovic, 684 F.2d 512, 516 (7th Cir. 1982) (Chicago Police 
Department); United States v. Lee Stoller Enterprises, Inc., 652 F.2d 1313, 1316-19 
(7th Cir. 1981) (Sheriff’s Office of Madison County, Illinois). See also United States v. 
Genova, 187 F. Supp. 2d 1015, 1028-29 (N.D. Ill. 2002) (Calumet City), rev’d on other 
grounds, 333 F.3d 750 (7th Cir. 2003); United States v. Lobue, 751 F.Supp. 748, 755 
(N.D. Ill. 1990) (Chicago Heights). This Court’s interpretation of enterprise as including 
public and governmental entities is consistent with that of other circuits. Lee Stoller 
Enterprises, 652 F.2d at 1318n.9 (collecting cases). See also United States v. Turkette, 
452 U.S. 576, 580 (1981) ([t]here is no restriction upon the associations embraced by 
the definition of enterprise). 

Faced with this overwhelming precedent, appellants rely on United States v. Mandel, 
415 F. Supp. 997, 1022 (D. Md. 1976), a district court decision pre-dating virtually all of 
the circuit court decisions on the issue. Br57. In Mandel, the court concluded that the 
State of Maryland could not be a valid enterprise. Id. at 1022. But Mandel did not 
differentiate between the naming of sovereign States and the naming of any other public 
entities as enterprises; by its reasoning, no public entities could be enterprisesunder the 
racketeering statute. 

Mandel has been discredited by all courts that have considered the issue, including the 
Fourth Circuit, which includes the District of Maryland. See United States v. Angelilli, 
660 F.2d 23, 33 n.10 (2d Cir. 1981); United States v. Long, 651 F.2d 239, 241 (4th 
Cir.1981); United States v. Clark, 646 F.2d 1259, 1261-67 (8th Cir. 1981). 

In arguing that states may not be considered legal entities under the racketeering statute, 
appellants miscast a straightforward issue of statutory interpretation into an issue of 
federalism. Br58. Their reliance on cases dealing with federalism or state sovereignty, 
such as Alden v. Maine, 527 U.S. 706, 748 (1999), is misplaced. Nothing in RICO 
precludes the states from addressing corruption or infringes in any way on the legitimate 
functioning of state government or on its sovereignty. 

Appellants overlook the fundamental principle that the racketeering enterprise, whether 
it be a legitimate business, governmental entity or association in fact, is merely the 
vehicle through which defendants conduct alleged racketeering activities. See United 
States v. McDade, 28 F.3d 283, 296 (3d Cir.1995) (proper to charge Congressional 
committee as enterprise, since major purpose of the RICO statute was to protect 
legitimate enterprises by attacking and removing those who had infiltrated them for 
unlawful purposes) (citations omitted). To define a governmental unit as an enterprise 
does not impugn its employees or subjects, nor disadvantage the entity. 

Ryan argues that Congress did not intend for sovereign states to be enterprises because 
RICO authorizes statutory remedies like dissolution or reorganization. Br57. That 
argument was rejected by this Court in Grzywacz, 603 F.2d at 685-86, and further 
repudiated by the Supreme Court in Turkette, 452 U.S. at 585, which noted: 
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Even if one or more of the civil remedies might be inapplicable to a 
particular illegitimate enterprise, this fact would not serve to limit the 
enterprise concept. Congress has provided civil remedies for use when 
the circumstances so warrant. It is untenable to argue that their existence 
limits the scope of the criminal provisions. 

The statute does not mandate the imposition of any particular remedy, but rather, 
depending on the situation, offers an array of possible remedies. Governmental units 
may be enterprises under the RICO statute. The indictment properly charged the State 
of Illinois as being the racketeering enterprise used by the defendants. 

(2) District Court’s Memorandum Opinion and Order in United States v. 
Lawrence E. Warner & George H. Ryan 

Citing the MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER in United States v. Lawrence E. Warner & 
George H. Ryan, Sr. (former governor of Illinois), 7th Circuit, Nos. 06-3517 and 06-3528 (October 
31, 2007) (RICO Act) at section I.A. THE CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE OF AN AGREEMENT TO VIOLATE 
RICO WAS SUFFICIENT: 

“To prove a RICO conspiracy, the government must show  

(1) an agreement to conduct or participate in the affairs  

(2) of an enterprise  

(3) through a pattern of racketeering activity.”  

United States v. Olson, 450 F.3d 655, 664 (7th Cir. 2006). Consistent with general conspiracy law, 
direct evidence of an agreement is not required to prove a RICO conspiracy; rather, “an agreement 
can be inferred from the circumstances.” United States v. Neopolitan, 791 F.2d 489, 501 (7th Cir. 
1986); see also United States v. Diaz, 876 F.2d 1344, 1352 (7th Cir. 1989) (“Because conspiracies 
are carried out in secret, direct proof of agreement is rare.”) (citation and quotations omitted). 

(3) 7th Circuit Memorandum Opinion in United States v. Lawrence E. Warner & 
George H. Ryan 

Citing the MEMORANDUM OPINION in United States v. Lawrence E. Warner & George H. Ryan, 
Sr. (former governor of Illinois), 7th Circuit, Nos. 06-3517 and 06-3528 (August 21, 2007); Rehearing 
Denied October 25, 2007; held that “[t]he district court did not err by allowing the state to be the RICO 
enterprise in this RICO conspiracy prosecution.” 

Appealed, Lawrence E. Warner and George H. Ryan v. United States, U.S. Supreme Court, 
No. 07-977 (January 25, 2008). Cert. denied, May 27, 2008, 
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DISCUSSION 3. OATH OF OFFICE FOR FEDERAL JUDGES AND JUSTICES 
28 U.S.C. 453. OATHS OF JUSTICES AND JUDGES 

Each justice or judge of the United States shall take the following oath or 
affirmation before performing the duties of his office:  

“I, _________________________, do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I 
will administer justice without respect to persons, and do equal right 
to the poor and to the rich, and that I will faithfully and impartially 
discharge and perform all the duties incumbent upon me as 
_____________________ under the Constitution and laws of the 
United States. So help me God.” 

Under Rule C.(2)(b) of SUPPLEMENTAL RULES FOR ADMIRALTY OR MARITIME CLAIMS AND ASSET 
FORFEITURE ACTIONS this Admiralty/Maritime Complaint against Defendant John G. Roberts, Chief 
Justice of the U.S. Supreme Court and Chairman of the Judicial Conference of the United States9 is in 
his administrative duties where he is NOT protected from from civil or Admiralty actions by absolute 
or qualified immunities. 

 Indian Towing Co. v. United States, U.S. La. 1955, 76 S.Ct. 122, 350 U.S. 61, at 69, 100 
L.Ed. 48. (When dealing with a statute subjecting Federal Government to liability for potentially large 
sums of money, federal Supreme Court must not promote profligacy by careless construction, but 
neither should court as a a self-constituted guardian of the Treasury import immunity back into a 
statute designed to limit it.)  

DISCUSSION 4. CITING THE CONCLUSION IN CARLOS MANUEL VÁZQUEZ, TREATIES AS 

LAW OF THE LAND: THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE AND THE JUDICIAL ENFORCEMENT OF 

TREATIES, 122 HARVARD LAW REVIEW 599 (DECEMBER 2008): 
This Article has argued that the Constitution establishes a straightforward 
rule regarding the judicial enforcement of treaties. By declaring treaties to 
have the force of law, the Supremacy Clause makes them enforceable in 
the courts in the same circumstances as statutory and constitutional 
provisions of like content. The Founders understood that treaties were 
contracts between nations that, on the international plane, depended on 
interest and honor for their efficacy. In order to avoid international friction 
that might lead to war and to capture the benefits of a reputation for 
treaty compliance, they made treaties enforceable in our courts as a 
matter of domestic constitutional law. The single exception to the 
requirement of equivalent treatment concerns treaties that are non-self-
executing in the sense contemplated by Foster v. Neilson. The Court’s 
subsequent decision in United States v. Percheman is best read to have 
recognized a presumption that treaties are self-executing in this sense, 
rebuttable by a clear statement in the treaty that the obligations imposed 
by the treaty are subject to legislative implementation. The recent decision 
in Medellín v. Texas is best understood as an example of an entirely 
different kind of non-self-execution.  

                                                      
9 www.uscourts.gov/judconf/members/JCMemsOct08.pdf 
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With respect to bilateral treaties, the Percheman clear statement rule 
leaves matters largely within the control of the U.S. treatymakers. With 
respect to multilateral treaties, however, the Percheman rule 
would likely pose significant practical problems for 
treatymakers seeking to control the domestic legal 
consequences of the treaties they negotiate (an important power 
in today’s complex world). A hypothetical presumption of non-self-
execution would be even more problematic from this perspective. 
Recognition of the treatymakers’ power to control the domestic effects of a 
treaty through a clear statement in a declaration attached to the treaty 
would significantly alleviate the problems. I conclude that declarations of 
non-self-execution would be valid if the default rule were self-execution, 
but declarations of self-execution would be less likely to be upheld if the 
default rule were non-self-execution. If the declaration mechanism were 
only available in the former context, a default rule of self-execution — the 
rule that coheres best with the Constitution’s text and structure and with 
the Supreme Court’s decisions on the subject — would also be 
normatively preferable. 

DISCUSSION 5. PLEADING FRAUD BY THE UNITED STATES OVER THE CONSTITUTION  
Either the Constitution of the 

United States is flawed or the United 
States Government has trampled it 
beyond all recognition by ignoring the 
guarantee to every State in this Union 
a Republican Form of Government, 
and shall protect each of them against 
Invasion; and on Application of the 
Legislature, or of the Executive (when 
the Legislature cannot be convened), 
against domestic Violence in Article 
IV, Section 4.  

As the graphic at right shows 
the our Republican form of 
government is a trifurcated 
quadrarchy with the People as the 
ultimate and true sovereign of the 
United States. Notice that the Judicial 
Branch of both the State 
Governments and the United States 
Government are placed between the 
the Governments and the People so 
as to protect the People from 
violations of their constitutional rights, 
including their human rights 
committed by the respective Governments.  
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Also note that the People are centered between the three branches of Government to 
effectively comprise Fourth Branch of Government thereby defining the United States as a trifurcated 
quadrarchy. That is supposed to be how it works. But it doesn’t work that way.  

Lobbyiest, special interestgroups, political elitists, career politicians, bureaucrats, and corruption 
have overthrown our trifurcated quadrarchy and transformed it into an oligarchy where the 
Democrats and the Republicans toss the batton of governance to each other at the expense of the 
Preople’s human right to self-determination to vote for third party candidates to break the relentless 
cycle of corruption where nothing ever changes but names and faces of those sitting in power 
corrupted by power, even in the federal judiciary.  

Today, I renew my Complaint in light of the U.S. Supreme Court Opinion in District of 
Columbia v. Heller which overturned the dismissal of my original Second Amendment case. This time 
I am invoking my right as a seaman under Admiralty/Maritime Law and under human rights treaties 
for a de novo review of the U.S. Coast Guard’s Final Agency Action in the NOTICE PLEADING set out 
in this Complaint.  

I also invoke FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE RULE 8(D)(2) Alternative Statements of 
Claims (i.e. ISSUE PLEADING) and FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE RULE 8(e) so that both the 
Notice Pleadings and Issue Pleadings are construed so as to do justice to Article III Section. 2. The 
judicial Power shall extend to all Cases, … arising under this Constitution, the Laws of the United 
States, and Treaties made, … under their Authority; … to all Cases of admiralty and maritime 
Jurisdiction; — to Controversies to which the United States shall be a Party;  

In the formation of such a government, it is not only the right, but the indispensable duty 
of every citizen to examine the principles of it, to compare them with the principles of 
other governments, with a constant eye to our particular situation and circumstances, and 
thus endeavor to foresee the future operations of our own system, and its effects upon 
human happiness.  

Noah Webster, An Examination Into The Leading Principles of the Federal 
Constitution: A Citizen of America Philadelphia, October 17, 1787 in THE LIBRARY 
OF AMERICA, THE DEBATE ON THE CONSTITUTION: FEDERALIST AND ANTIFEDERALIST 
SPEECHES, ARTICLES, AND LETTERS DURING THE STRUGGLE OVER RATIFICATION: 
PART ONE: SEPTEMBER 1787 TO FEBRUARY 1788; pp. 129-131. 

For the last seven years the federal courts and the U.S. Department of Justice have obstructed 
and denied my Seventh Amendment right to a civil jury to determine the full scope of the Second 
Amendment. It is my belief and assertion that the full scope of Second Amendment includes the right 
to openly keep and bear arms in intrastate, interstate, nautical, and maritime travel for the lawful 
purpose of armed self-defense as it is an inherent human right.  
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DISCUSSION 6. THE DIRECT HORIZONTAL EFFECT OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 

PROTECTION 
Giving consideration to comparative constitutional law through a study of Stephen 

Gardbaum’s, THE HORIZONTAL EFFECT OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS, 102 Mich. L. Rev. 387 (Dec. 
2003), UCLA School of Law, Research Paper Serious No. 03-14 and other law review articles on the 
subject I learned that: 

The State Action Doctrine, established by the Civil Rights Case of 1883, is a fraud upon the 
More Perfect Union Clause of the Preamble to the Constitution and upon the Supremacy Clause in 
Article VI of the Constitution. 

State Action Doctrine is irrelevant and a malicisous contrivance where a law is challenged as 
unconstitutional because all laws are subject to the Constitution under the Supremacy Clause. State 
laws are not subject to the Constitution because they constitute state action under the Fourteenth 
Amendment but because the Supremacy Clase says they are. 

National Open Carry Handgun, the old way of exercising the Second Amendment right to keep 
and bear arms, requires abolishing the State Action Doctrine by expanding constitutional rights 
protection to include private actors (i.e., establishing the hierarchical order of rights where Second 
Amendment rights are placed in the order above property rights such that gun-free zones are 
unconstitutional.). The expansion of constitutional rights protection into the private sphere would 
place constitutional duties upon private individuals to promote and protect constitutional values even 
if they had no regard for particular constitutional rights for themselves (i.e., full Direct Horizontal Effect 
Doctrine). 

Judicial supremacy and the State Action Doctrine are frauds on the More Perfect Union Clause, 
the Supremacy Clause and the Ninth and Tenth Amendments. The federal judiciary with their Judicial 
Supremacy is at war with Popular Constitutionalism where the People say what the Constitution 
means.  

As for a fully functional Constitution, the Eleventh Amendment is a fraud upon the Tenth 
Amendment, the Seventh Amendment, and the intended checks and balance system of the 
Constitution itself. 

The Government of the United States from 1798 to today has eroded the checks and balance 
structure of the Constitution, taking, denying, and criminalizing rights and eroding powers reserved to 
the People in the Tenth Amendment until the federal courts can dismiss a justiciable case without 
rhyme or reason from a political ideology serving as the Rule of Law.  

In Chisholm v. Georgia, 2 U.S. 419 (1793), the U.S. Supreme Court correctly answered the 
question on whether the state of Georgia was subject to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court and the 
federal government.  In a 4-to-1 decision, the justices held that the people of the United States 
intended to bind the states by the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the national 
government. The Court held that supreme or sovereign power was retained by citizens themselves, 
not by the artificial person of the State of Georgia. The Constitution made clear that controversies 
between individual states and citizens of other states were under the jurisdiction of federal courts. 
State conduct was subject to judicial review.10 In retaliation for the U.S. Supreme Court protecting the 

                                                      
10 http://www.oyez.org/cases/1792-1850/1793/1793_0 
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sovereign right of the People of the United States to sue a State under Article III, Section 2, The 
judicial Power shall extend to ... Controversies ... between a State and Citizens of another State  

In retaliation for the U.S. Supreme Court’s Chisholm opinion the Congress of the United States 
proposed the Eleventh Amendment in 1794 and the requisite number of State legislativers ratified the 
Eleventh Amendment in 1798. The Eleventh Amendment reads: The Judicial power of the United 
States shall not be construed to extend to any suit in law or equity, commenced or prosecuted 
against one of the United States by Citizens of another State, or by Citizens or Subjects of 
any Foreign State. 

The Eleventh Amendment stripped the People of the United States of one mechanism from the 
checks and balance system provided by the Constitution of the United States. The deconstruction of 
the checks and balance system of the United States Constitution began with the ratification of the 
Eleventh Amendment in 1798 and continues today through incrementalism to such an extent that the 
People of the United States are now under a tyrannical oligarchic form of government instead of a 
Republican form of Government that was supposed to be guaranteed in Article IV, Section 4 of the 
Constitution. 

DISCUSSION 7. ABOLISHING THE STATE ACTION DOCTRINE FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF 

THE DIRECT HORIZONTAL EFFECT DOCTRINE OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS PROTECTION 
The Constitutional Convention in Philadelphia was so concerned about British tyranny and 

violations of constitutional rights of the people by the government (what is referred to today as the 
vertical effect) that they neglected to explicitly address violations of  constitutional rights by the people 
themselves (the horizontal effect) (i.e., transnational corporations denying firearms aboard ships to 
deter and defend against pirates on the high seas).  

Citing Erwin Chemerinsky, RETHINKING STATE ACTION, 80 Northwestern University Law 
Review 503 (Fall 1985): 

I. Introduction 

During the 1950s and 1960s, probably no topic attracted more attention in law review 
articles than state action. Literally dozens of articles were written. In 1967, Yale Law 
Professor Charles Black observed that state action is the most important problem in 
American law. We cannot think about it too much; we ought to talk about it until we 
settle on a view both conceptually and functionally right.1 But by the late 1970s, concern 
about state action seemed to fade. Scarcely an article has been written on the subject 
since 1980.2 Why has the topic, which so preoccupied the last generation of 
constitutional scholars, been virtually ignored by contemporary commentators? Surely it 
is not that there is now agreement on the proper content of the state action doctrine. 
There still are no clear principles for determining whether state action exists.3 As Judge 
Friendly recently observed, the statement fifteen years ago that the state action cases 
were a ‘conceptual disaster area’ . . . would appear even more apt today.4 Nor does the 
absence of discussion reflect diminishing importance of the concept of state action. The 
ability of the federal government, both through the judiciary and the legislature, to protect 
rights from private interference is determined, in large part, by the definition of state 
action.5 State action doctrines remain the dividing line between the public sector, which 
is controlled by the Constitution, and the private sector, which is not.6 Courts continually 
face countless cases posing the question whether the Constitution’s protections should be 
applied to limit the conduct of nongovernmental actors. 
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VI. Conclusion 

This is certainly not the first article to propose the elimination of the state action doctrine. 
Professors Black, Karst, and Horowitz, to name a few, made persuasive arguments to this 
effect during the 1950s and 1960s.283 Nor do I believe that this Article will be any more 
successful than the earlier efforts. The Burger Court appears irrevocably committed to 
limiting the application and scope of the Constitution’s protections. 

So what is the value of another article on state action? First, I hope that change, at least 
in the long term, will occur if it is demonstrated, emphatically and repeatedly that limiting 
the Constitution’s protections to state action makes no sense. History shows that if 
doctrines and concepts are attacked long enough and hard enough they may begin to 
crumble. This Article is an attempt to contribute to that effort by examining the historical 
jurisprential underpinnings of the state action requirement --- an analysis that thus far has 
been absent from the state action literature. 

Furthermore, even if the Court never completely abolishes the state action requirement, it 
still can expand the Constitution’s protections by increasingly finding state action to be 
present. If judges can be persuaded that private infringements of constitutional rights 
undermine vital liberties, then perhaps they will return to the earlier trend and at least 
liberalize the state action doctrine. If addition, perhaps Congress and the states will act to 
safeguard rights from private interference. 

Finally, thinking about the state action doctrine and private sectors of the concept’s 
importance in separating the public and private sectors of American society. At a time 
when the public/private distinction is increasingly blurred and increasingly attacked, it is 
necessary to consider what should be the basis for division and what should be the 
content of each domain. I believe that such analsis would be greatly improved by 
eliminating the state action requirement. 

 

Pekka Länsineva, LL.D., Docent of Constitutional Law, University of Turku, Finland, 
FUNDAMENTAL RIGHTS, PRIVATIZATION AND PRIVATE POWER, 1. INTRODUCTION – VERTICAL VS. 
HORIZONTAL APPROACH, The VIIth World Congress of the International Association of Constitutional 
Law ( IACL), Athens, June 11-15, 2007, WORKSHOP 10 – CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES IN THE LIGHT 
OF PRIVATIZATION, Wednesday 13 June 2007 (draft version):11 

There is a close connection between the understanding of the scope of application of 
fundamental rights and the classical public/private divide. According to the traditional 
approach international human rights and national constitutional rights have normative 
effect mainly in the field of public law. The primary purpose of these rights is to protect 
individuals against the use of public power and state action but not against private actors. 
In other words, fundamental rights (i.e. human rights and constitutional rights) are 
considered as binding only in vertical (state – individual) but not in horizontal (private 
actor – private actor) relations. 

In recent international discourse, the adequacy of this classical approach has been widely 
questioned both from constitutional and human rights perspectives. In addition, the 

                                                      
11 http://www.enelsyn.gr/papers/w10/Paper%20by%20Pekka%20Lansineva.pdf 
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dividing line between public and private law has been placed under a critical assessment. 
The main issue in the current discussion concerns whether it is appropriate and grounded 
under the present circumstances to impose only the use of public power under the 
constitutional scrutiny but leave the use of private power outside of corresponding 
control. Especially, contemporary socioeconomic tendencies such as globalization and 
privatization have made it more and more evident that also different kinds of private 
actors, entities and regimes can seriously threaten individuals’ fundamental rights.12 For 
example, large multinational corporations in sectors like energy, food and pharmaceutical 
industry, information technology, media, and capital markets can in many respects be 
regarded as powerful economic, political and social actors that are comparable to states 
and capable of governing different areas of social life. Therefore, a question of the day in 
international human rights discourse is to what extent human rights obligations should or 
could be imposed on multinational corporations and other non-state actors13  Moreover, 
similar issues seem to arise also on the national level where the topic of constitutional 
accountability of the exercise of private power is under a growing interest worldwide. 

2. Comparative Considerations – Pro & Contra Arguments 

On a general level, it seems to be rather easy to recognize that there can be a genuine 
need for constitutional and human rights protection at least in certain kinds of relations 
between private actors. However, difficulties and disagreements arise as soon as the 
discussion moves on to more concrete legal questions about how to implement and 
realize this protection in horizontal relations and how extensive and effective the 
protection should be. 14  One hard question concerns who should be responsible for 
realizing this protection. In this respect, many legal orders continue to embrace the 
traditional view according to which private actors are not directly bound by fundamental 
rights norms but it is a duty of public bodies to protect individuals’ constitutional rights 
against each other (indirect horizontal effect). Nevertheless, a much wider spectrum of 
conceptions is related to questions concerning the exact normative substance of this 
public duty, and how it should be divided between legislative, executive and judicial 
branches of government. One must also take a stand in such a difficult matter as to 
whether constitutional and human rights should be taken into account in all kinds of 
private relations or just under very specific circumstances. Similarly, it has to be assessed 
whether all types of fundamental rights should be given equal normative effect from a 
point of view of private relations, or should some of these rights have a clear priority in 
this respect. 

Comparative constitutional analysis shows that there exists a wide variety of conceptions 
concerning the normative reach of the fundamental rights within the field of private law 
and economic relations. Some legal systems seem to be ready to approve rather 
extensive applications of fundamental rights in the private law matters (like Germany and 

                                                      
12 Gavin W Anderson, Constitutional Rights After Globalisation, Oxford 2005. 
13  See Andrew Clapham, HUMAN RIGHTS OBLIGATIONS OF NON-STATE ACTORS, Oxford 2006; Olivier De 
Schutter, TRANSNATIONAL CORPORATIONS AND HUMAN RIGHTS, Bern 2005; Philip Alston (Ed.), NON-STATE 

ACTORS AND HUMAN RIGHTS, Oxford 2005. 
14 See Murray Hunt, The Horizontal Effect of the Human Rights Act, Public Law 1998, p. 423-443. Stephen 
Gardbaum, The Horizontal Effect of Constitutional Rights, 102 Michigan Law Review 387-459, (2003). 
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South Africa), while some other legal orders are sticking more tightly to the traditional 
vertical approach (like the USA). Furthermore, within many legal systems there seems to 
be a lot of debate on the desired reach and intensity of the horizontal effect of the 
fundamental rights (Great Britain, Canada, South Africa). 

The proponents of the extension of horizontal effect (the horizontalists) usually argue that 
due to privatization and recent socioeconomic development individuals need 
constitutional protection not only against the government but also against different kinds 
of powerful non-state economic actors and entities. On the other hand, the main 
adversarial arguments from the side of verticalists are based on the idea that extensive 
application of fundamental rights outside the field of public law would endanger the idea 
of private autonomy and individual freedom, and might lead as well to the 
constitutionalization of all political and legal conflicts (juristocracyargument). The 
horizontalists would then argue that the acceptance of horizontal effect does not 
undermine individual autonomy, but on the contrary, it is a necessary precondition for 
equal respect for the liberties of all. When legal regulation of private relations is anyway 
under a materialization process and private autonomy is decreasing, why should this 
process not be governed by the basic constitutional values. 

3. Horizontal Effect and the New Finnish Constitution 

The debate about the possible and desired horizontal effects of the fundamental rights has 
started also in Finland. From a comparative point of view the current Finnish situation 
has some interesting features. As a background information, it is necessary to recall that 
Finland has a fairly new Constitution (the fundamental rights provisions of the 
Constitution were reformed in the year 1995, and the rest of the Constitution in 2000) 
with a rather comprehensive catalogue of fundamental rights. In addition to traditional 
civil and political rights the Finnish Constitution protects for example a range of 
economic, social and cultural rights (ESC rights) and recognizes environmental 
responsibility and sustainable development as important constitutional values. According 
to the travaux preparatoires of the new Constitution the environmental rights and ESC-
rights in the Constitution are not only programmatic by nature but legally binding 
constitutional norms. Furthermore, the constitution (section 22) demands that all 
branches of government shall not only respect the fundamental rights in a negative sense 
but they shall also guarantee the observance of basic rights and liberties and human rights 
with necessary positive measures. This positive guarantee includes a public obligation to 
protect the fundamental rights in private relations, as well. 

From a comparative perspective, the text and the preparatory works of the new Finnish 
Constitution seem to open the door for rather far reaching horizontal applications of the 
fundamental rights. This statement can, inter alia, be based on the fact that most of the 
reformed fundamental rights provisions in the Constitution are written in general and all-
embracing terms, and only a few of them are clearly addressed to the public authorities. 
Similarly, the new primacy clause of the constitution (section 106) applies to all legislation 
and makes no difference between private and public law. It is prescribed in the section 
106 that if an application of an ordinary act would be in evident conflict with the 
Constitution, the court of law shall give primacy to the Constitution. In other words, the 
text of the primacy clause confirms an idea that the Constitution is supreme law of the 
land and governs all application of law both in public and civil law courts. Even so, 
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according to the travaux preparatoires, the principal field of application of fundamental 
rights is still related to vertical public law relations. 

However, during the preparation of the Constitution it was emphasized that constitutional 
rights as fundamental societal values should have normative effect also between private 
actors. Normally, this horizontal effect is indirect by nature and requires legislative 
actions. Anyhow, at least some of the constitutional rights may have even more direct 
horizontal effect (Government Bill 309/1993, p. 29). For example Section 18.3 of the 
Constitution (No one shall be dismissed from employment without a lawful reason.) was 
mentioned to be directly applicable in all kinds of employer – employee relations (p. 69). 
It has also been suggested that the non-discrimination clause (Section 6.2) of the 
Constitution could have direct normative relevance between private parties.15  

The Finnish Constitution contains also a special privatization clause (Section 124) which 
prohibits the privatization of such public tasks that involve the significant exercise of 
public powers. Accordingly, it would be unconstitutional to privatize the core functions of 
the police, army or prisons. Furthermore, according to this clause other types of public 
administrative tasks may be privatized by an Act of Parliament only if it is necessary for 
the appropriate performance of the task and if basic rights and liberties, legal remedies 
and other requirements of good governance are not endangered. The provision clearly 
manifests that all forms of execution of public administrative tasks are bound by 
fundamental rights and principles of good governance irrespective of who (public or 
private body) is in charge of the task in question. Thereby, it is beyond doubt that for 
example private child welfare institutions, private security stewards and vehicle inspectors 
have to respect constitutional rights in their activities. Moreover, the privatization clause 
supports an interpretation that fundamental rights should be taken into account in all 
such activities which include explicit enough public features. Thus, the fundamental rights 
should govern the production and distribution of public utilities like energy, water, post 
and telecommunications, as well as social- and health services and at least some parts of 
insurance, financing and debt collection services. 

4. Horizontal Effect in Practice 

The next issue is to find out to what extent the above described constitutional 
commitment to protect individuals and their fundamental rights also against the (mis)use 
of private power has been realized and concretized in the Finnish legal practice and 
jurisprudence. First, it has to be admitted that the doctrine in this sense is not yet well 
established but rather just shaping up. In the following, I shall outline briefly how the issue 
of horizontal effect has been approached in the Finnish legislative and court practices as 
well as in the academic discussion. 

4.1. The Constitutional Law Committee 

So far, the most significant and far reaching applications of constitutional rights in private 
contexts can be found in the case law of the Constitutional Law Committee of 
Parliament. This Committee can be described as a quasi-judicial parliamentary body 
whose main function is to control in advance that all new parliamentary legislation is 

                                                      
15 Martin Scheinin, Yhdenvertaisuus ja syrjinnän kielto (PL 6 §), in: Hallberg-Karapuu– SCHEININ-TUORI-VILJANEN, 
Perusoikeudet, Juva 1999, p. 231-261, at 258. 



PART 8. CLAIMS AGAINST DEFENDANT UNITED STATES 
 

 
PART 8. CLAIMS AGAINST DEFENDANT UNITED STATES 

229 

 

compatible with the Constitution and international human rights obligations. The central 
status of the Constitutional Law Committee in the Finnish constitutional system can be 
explained in light of the fact that traditionally this Committee has been the primary body 
of constitutional review. At the same time, the courts of law have been rather cautious 
and inexperienced in this respect. Even today, the Finnish constitutional doctrine seems 
to be eager to emphasize the predominant role of this committee as a watchdog of the 
Constitution. Nonetheless, the courts of law have gradually strengthened their position in 
the field of constitutional review. 

In the case law of the Constitutional Law Committee there exists a relatively wide range 
of decisions concerning the normative relevance of the constitutional rights between 
private parties. As a starting point, the Committee has often stated that the normative 
effect of fundamental rights shall in general be transmitted by ordinary legislation into 
private relations. In such situations, it is important that the legislator strikes a fair balance 
between the fundamental rights of all those private parties who are involved in the 
legislation in question. For example, in its opinion (7/2005) concerning the bill of the new 
Copyright Act the Committee required that legislation in this area has to be designed in a 
manner that does not restrict excessively either the rights of copyright holders or the users 
of literary and artistic works. Thus, the legislation shall not protect only the economic and 
moral rights of the right holders but it has to guarantee the fundamental rights of the users 
of the protected works as well. According to the Committee, it is important that the 
copyright legislation shall not too severely circumscribe for example the freedom of 
expression (Section 12) or the freedom of science, the arts or higher education (Section 
16). 

Similarly, when assessing the bill of Communications Market Act the Committee 
emphasized the importance of balancing between the fundamental rights of all the 
relevant private parties involved (45/2005). Thus, legislation concerning 
telecommunications should not be unfair either from a point of view of different network 
and service operators or consumers. The legislator has an authority to restrict the freedom 
of contract of the operators and a (somewhat softer) duty to regulate relevant relations 
between the private parties in an appropriate manner in order to guarantee equal 
telecommunication services with reasonable prices and conditions to the consumers. In its 
opinion (24/2002) on the Act on Credit Institutions the Committee approved a regulation 
concerning the universal access of the customers to basic banking services. According to 
the Committee, an objective to guarantee a universal right to open an ordinary deposit 
account constituted a justified reason to restrict the right of deposit banks to choose their 
customers. In its decisions concerning the insolvency and debt adjustment legislation 
(33/2002, 42/2006) the Constitutional Law Committee approved an argument that long-
lasting and excessive indebtedness may cause a serious threat to the individual survival 
and life of dignity. Therefore, it is justified to intervene by means of retroactive legislation 
into the property rights of the creditors in order to relieve the situation of the most 
miserable debtors. However, the Committee evaded the question whether the proposed 
legislative measures were sufficient enough in order to normalize the living conditions of 
such debtors to the constitutionally acceptable level. 

Legislation concerning labour relations is also one of the key areas in which the questions 
of horizontal effect typically arise. The Act on the protection privacy in working life is 
probably the most representative example in this respect. This law regulates for example 
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the legal preconditions under which an employer may process the personal data of 
workers and require them drug test certificates, as well as operate camera surveillance 
and open e-mails belonging to the employer. The Constitutional Law Committee 
scrutinized thoroughly whether these restrictions into the fundamental rights (the right to 
privacy, the protection of personal data, the secrecy of correspondence, the right to 
personal integrity and self-determination) of the workers were compatible with the 
Constitution (10/2004). In this scrutiny, the Committee applied its normal restriction test 
as in any typical vertical case asking for instance whether the proposed restrictions 
satisfied the requirements of precision and definition, the legitimacy of the ground for 
restriction, the proportionality, the non-violation of the core of a constitutional right and 
the adequate legal safeguards. Apparently, the Committee equated the relations between 
employers and employees with relations between the state and private persons from a 
point of view of restrictions into the fundamental rights of the individuals. 

Finally, there exists a rich practice of the Constitutional Law Committee of Parliament 
concerning the interpretation of the privatization clause of the Constitution. The 
Committee has interpreted the term public administrative task in a relatively wide manner 
and demanded strict observance of fundamental rights always when private actors have 
been entrusted with significant public functions. According to the Committee it is essential 
that the privatizing legislation specifies in detail both the extent and limits of the delegated 
authorities. Detailed legislation is required especially when private bodies are entrusted 
with powers to restrict the constitutional rights of individuals. In other words, it is 
necessary that the use of such authority is bound by strict and clear norms on the level of 
acts of Parliament. 

In addition, it can be argued that such private bodies that are taking care of public 
administrative tasks are directly bound by fundamental rights. In other words, irrespective 
of the state of the ordinary legislation in question such bodies have to respect for example 
the equality, the right to self-determination and privacy as well as the freedom of religion, 
expression, association and occupation of their clients. Similarly, the property rights, 
linguistic rights, participatory rights and environmental responsibility have to be respected 
always when executing public administrative tasks. 

As a whole, the practice of the Constitutional Law Committee indicates that almost all 
types fundamental rights may have normative relevance from a point of view of relations 
between private actors. First, it is rather easy to accept an idea that such classic rights as 
right to life, liberty and property as well as the principle of non-discrimination can be 
realized only if they are guaranteed in all kinds of legal relations. Second, the Committee 
recognized that the freedom of speech, access to public documents and the freedom of 
science and the arts may need protection against private entities as well. Third, the 
practice of the Committee points out that at least some types of the social and economic 
rights connected to work, indispensable subsistence and life of dignity can be applicable 
in the private contexts. 

The main critical point in the practice of the Committee is that it continues to emphasize 
the negative effect of the fundamental rights at the cost of the positive obligation. The 
Committee usually concentrates on questions whether it is justified to restrict the rights of 
a stronger private party in order to give protection to the fundamental rights of a weaker 
party. It seems to be rather reluctant to change the perspective and ask whether it has 
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been done enough in order to safeguard the rights of the weaker party against the misuse 
of private power. 

4.2. Case Law of the Finnish courts 

As stated above, the Finnish courts have traditionally been rather cautious in applying 
fundamental rights norms in their jurisdiction. However, within the last 10-15 years the 
number of the court cases with references to human and constitutional rights has 
gradually increased in the practice of the Supreme Court and the Supreme Administrative 
Court. However, within the field of private litigation the significance of fundamental rights 
has been relatively peripherical so far. For example, there are not yet any clear civil law 
cases where the Supreme Court would have regarded a certain application of law to be in 
evident conflict with the Constitution and given primacy to the Constitution on the basis 
of Section 106. Probably the closest case in this respect was the decision 2003:107 (SC) 
which concerned the right of an individual to institute paternity proceedings. The plaintiff 
of the case argued that a special time limit provision in the implementing act concerning 
the Paternity Act of 1975 discriminated her on the basis of age by precluding her 
permanently the right of action for the establishment of paternity. According to the 
legislation in question those who are born after 1975 have a right to paternity 
proceedings without any time limits but those who were born before that year should 
have brought a suit latest in the year 1981. According to the majority of the Supreme 
Court, the application of this time limit did not discriminate the plaintiff in an evidently 
unconstitutional manner. On the other hand, the rapporteur of the case and some 
academic commentators16 have suggested that the court should have given primacy to 
the constitution and disregarded the discriminating provision of the time limit in this case. 
Actually, the Supreme Court had in two earlier cases deviated from the time limit rule on 
the equality basis (1984 II 95, 1993:58), and should have done so in this case as well. 

Also in other respects, the Supreme Court (the majority) has been rather reluctant in 
applying the fundamental rights in civil law matters. For example, there have been a few 
cases in which the lover court has leaned on arguments based on fundamental rights but 
where the Supreme Court has rejected (or ignored) the relevance of such arguments. For 
example the courts of appeal have in a few cases regarded arbitration agreements 
(especially in franchise arrangements, Vaasa Court of Appeal 1.12.1999 and Rovaniemi 
Court of Appeal 19.6.2002) to be excessive and in need to be adjusted because such 
agreements de facto deprived the access to justice from the weaker parties of the 
contracts in question. On the other hand, the Supreme Court has in such cases stuck to its 
traditional lines of argument without visible constitutional nexus (2003:60). Similarly, the 
minority of the Supreme Court has in a couple of cases (concerning child custody and 
guardianship issues, 2005:138 and 2004:38) emphasized that fundamental rights should 
be taken into account when deciding the case but the majority has decided the case on 
more traditional basis. 

Anyhow, there are at least a few cases in which (the majority of) the Supreme Court has 
given normative effect to fundamental rights in primarily civil matters. Yet, it has to be 
admitted that these cases included some elements of public nature as well. The first of 
these cases (1998:122) concerned the ineligibility sanction of four years which the 

                                                      
16 Martin Scheinin, OIKEUSTAPAUSKOMMENTTI KKO 2003:107, Lakimies 2004, p. 532-543. 
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Federation of Finnish Athletes had imposed on an athlete who had broken antidoping-
rules. When deciding the issue whether the legality of such sanction is a court case or an 
internal issue of (private) sporting organisations the Supreme Court emphasized the fact 
that the ineligibility sanction restricted the fundamental rights (the freedom of occupation 
and the respect of honour) of an athlete in different ways. Therefore, the athlete had a 
right to have her case dealt in the court. 

The second example concerned the methods of investigation of paternity in a case where 
an obvious father-candidate had died (1999:50). According to the Supreme Court it was 
unlawful to take blood samples from the relatives of the deceased father-candidate 
because the Paternity Act was silent about such a possibility. The court stated that taking 
blood samples involuntarily means an intervention into the personal liberty and integrity 
and such a measure would be legal only if it can be based on a clear authority rule in an 
act of parliament. Some academic commentators supported the decision while some 
others criticized it. The dividing issue seems to be whether such a case should be 
reconstructed from the vertical or horizontal point of view. From the vertical perspective 
the decision seems to be totally justifiable.17  On the other hand, the decision of the court 
passes the horizontal side of the case and ignores the right of the plaintiff to obtain 
relevant information for the investigation of paternity.18  

5. Horizontal Effect and the Finnish Jurisprudence 

There is going on a lively debate on the normative relevance of the fundamental rights in 
different fields of the Finnish jurisprudence. However, the issue of the horizontal effect of 
fundamental rights has not been thoroughly discussed yet. Actually, many scholars in the 
field of constitutional law seem to be rather cautious and traditional in the issues of 
horizontal effect although the new Constitution and its preparatory works would open 
many interesting prospects and possibilities for strengthening the constitutional 
accountability of the use of private power. Apparently, the traditional thought according 
to which the primary function of the fundamental rights is to set limits especially on the 
use of public power is still strong and vital. However, at least some constitutional scholars 
seem to be ready to share the view that fundamental rights must be respected also 
between private parties, especially when the parties are manifestly unequal or the 
relationship otherwise has some public features. 

Until now, the most far reaching and innovative suggestions about the horizontal effect 
have been presented in the civil law jurisprudence. Especially professor Juha Pöyhönen19 
has supported his theory on the new property law on the system of fundamental rights. 
Similarly, there has been interesting discussion on the horizontal effect in the fields of 
intellectual property law and environmental law. On the other hand, the most vigorous 
opinions against the horizontal effect of fundamental rights has been presented by the 
civil law scholars, as well. The struggle between verticalists and horizontalists is ready to 
start. 

 

                                                      
17 Veli-Pekka Viljanen, , PERUSOIKEUKSIEN RAJOITUSEDELLYTYKSET, Helsinki 2001. 
18 Pekka Länsineva, PERUSOIKEUDET JA VARALLISUUSSUHTEET, Helsinki 2002. 
19 Juha Pöyhönen, UUSI VARALLISUUSOIKEUS, Helsinki 2000 
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Citing the conclusion in Larry D. Kramer, MARBURY AND THE RETREAT FROM JUDICIAL 
SUPREMACY, Constitutional Commentary. Summer 2003:20 

V.  Conclusion:  

The Continuing Struggle for Popular Constitutionalism 

Given the American people’s overwhelming rejection of judicial supremacy, one might 
have expected the idea to expire with the Federalist Party. But it never disappeared 
entirely. The very diffuseness and decentralization of popular constitutionalism made it 
possible for advocates of judicial authority to continue nursing their claims. Driven out of 
respectable public debate for a time, the idea of judicial supremacy eventually reemerged 
from hibernation. Popular constitutionalism and judicial supremacy then shared space in 
American political culture, co-existing in an uncertain and sometimes tense relationship. 
The result was a dialectical tug of war that continues even today. 

How this happened and how it has played out over time is a long and complicated story, 
told elsewhere.21 Here, we need say only the following: For most of American history, 
popular constitutionalism probably reflected the dominant public understanding, and it 
was the clear victor each time matters came to a head, as they did, for example, in 1832, 
in 1857, and in 1937. Whether popular constitutionalism would still prevail today-
whether the American people in 2003 would follow their forbears by insisting on their 
right to control the Constitution, or would instead hand control over to what Martin Van 
Buren once condemned as the selfish and contracted rule of a judicial oligarchy22 – seems 
an open question. We should, however, at least recognize that the question is open. 
Judicial supremacy is not the logical or inevitable product of experience and progress. It 
remains now, as it was in the beginning, but one side in a recurrent and ongoing struggle 
to determine the proper role of ordinary citizens in a republic. 

Nordyke v. King, 9th Circuit’s No. 07-15763, at p. 4496, (April 20, 2009) (We are therefore 
persuaded that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment incorporates the Second 
Amendment and applies it against the states and local governments):23 

Judge O’Scannlain:  

We therefore conclude that the right to keep and bear arms is deeply rooted in this 
Nation’s history and tradition. Colonial revolutionaries, the Founders, and a host of 
commentators and lawmakers living during the first one hundred years of the Republic all 
insisted on the fundamental nature of the right. It has long been regarded as the true 

                                                      
20 Larry D. Kramer, Associate Dean for Research and Academics and Russell D. Niles Professor of Law, New York 
University School of Law. The material below is drawn from [the] book, THE PEOPLE THEMSELVES: POPULAR 

CONSTITUTIONALISM AND JUDICIAL REVIEW (2004), which offers a more comprehensive account of the origins and 
development of judicial review from its beginnings in colonial society until today. 
http://findarticles.com/p/articles/mi_hb3086/is_2_20/ai_n29061207/  
21 Readers who have made it this far will, hopefully, find themselves intrigued enough to read THE PEOPLE 
THEMSELVES: POPULAR CONSTITUTIONALISM AND JUDICIAL REVIEW (Oxford, 2004), which more fully recounts the 
historical course of debates about judicial review and judicial supremacy from the Revolution until today. 
22 Martin Van Buren, Inquiry Into the Origin and Course of Political Parties in the United States 376 (1867). 
23 www.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2009/04/20/0715763.pdf 
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palladium of liberty. Colonists relied on it to assert and to win their independence, and 
the victorious Union sought to prevent a recalcitrant South from abridging it less than a 
century later. The crucial role this deeply rooted right has played in our birth and history 
compels us to recognize that it is indeed fundamental, that it is necessary to the Anglo-
American conception of ordered liberty that we have inherited. 24  We are therefore 
persuaded that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 
incorporates the Second Amendment and applies it against the states and local 
governments. 25, 26 

. . . we concluded that the Second Amendment is indeed incorporated against the states, . 

..  

Concurring Opinion:  

9th Circuit Judge Gould concurring with Judge O’Scannlain:  

I concur in Judge O’Scannlain’s opinion but write to elaborate my view of the policies 
underlying the selective incorporation decision.  

First, as Judge O’Scannlain has aptly explained, the rights secured by the Second 
Amendment are deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and tradition, and necessary to the 
Anglo-American regime of ordered liberty. The salient policies underlying the protection of 
the right to bear arms are of inestimable importance. The right to bear arms is a bulwark 
against external invasion. We should not be overconfident that oceans on our east and 
west coasts alone can preserve security. We recently saw in the case of the terrorist attack 
on Mumbai that terrorists may enter a country covertly by ocean routes, landing in small 
craft and then assembling to wreak havoc. That we have a lawfully armed populace adds 
a measure of security for all of us and makes it less likely that a band of terrorists could 
make headway in an attack on any community before more professional forces arrived.27  

                                                      
24 By speaking of the two parts of the incorporation inquiry separately—deeply rooted in this Nation’s history and 
tradition and necessary to an Anglo-American regime of ordered liberty—we do not mean to imply a distinct two-
pronged test. The incorporation cases and the substantive due process cases both treat these two phrases as 
aspects of a holistic inquiry. 
25 The County and its amici point out that, however universal its earlier support, the right to keep and bear arms 
has now become controversial. See generally Sanford Levinson, THE EMBARRASSING SECOND AMENDMENT, 99 
Yale L.J. 637 (1989). But we do not measure the protection the Constitution affords a right by the 
values of our own times. If contemporary desuetude sufficed to read rights out of the Constitution, 
then there would be little benefit to a written statement of them. Some may disagree with the 
decision of the Founders to enshrine a given right in the Constitution. If so, then the people can 
amend the document. But such amendments are not for the courts to ordain. 
26 Available online at www.ca9.uscourts.gov/datastore/opinions/2009/04/20/0715763.pdf 
27 English history as summarized by Winston Churchill shows constant recourse to militia to withstand invading 
forces that arrived not rarely from England’s neighboring lands. See generally 2 WINSTON S. CHURCHILL, HISTORY 

OF THE ENGLISH SPEAKING PEOPLES: THE NEW WORLD (Dodd, Mead, & Co. 1966); 3 Winston S. Churchill, History 
Of The English Speaking Peoples: The Age Of Revolution (Dodd, Mead, & Co. 1967). Also, during World War II, 
when England feared for its survival and anticipated the possibility of a Nazi invasion, its homeland security policy 
took into account that its Home Guard might slow or retard an offensive, which could come at any point on the 
coastline, until trained military forces could be brought to bear to repel an invader—because England was to be 
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Second, the right to bear arms is a protection against the possibility that even our own 
government could degenerate into tyranny, and though this may seem unlikely, this 
possibility should be guarded against with individual diligence.  

Third, while the Second Amendment thus stands as a protection against both external 
threat and internal tyranny, the recognition of the individual’s right in the Second 
Amendment, and its incorporation by the Due Process Clause against the states, is not 
inconsistent with the reasonable regulation of weaponry.  

All weapons are not arms within the meaning of the Second Amendment, so, for example, 
no individual could sensibly argue that the Second Amendment gives them a right to have 
nuclear weapons or chemical weapons in their home for self-defense. Also, important 
governmental interests will justify reasonable regulation of rifles and handguns, and the 
problem for our courts will be to define, in the context of particular regulation by the states 
and municipalities, what is reasonable and permissible and what is unreasonable and 
offensive to the Second Amendment.  

The national open carry aspect of the Second Amendment right to keep and bear arms is today 
politically and judicially a taboo subject matter for the courts.  

DISCUSSION 8. ON THE PETITION FOR DECLARATORY RELIEF 
I reference the following list of my previous cases as adopted as part of this case as direct and 

relevant evidence even though the Court will be required to issue a Court Order to Courts of the other 
districts for their court records: 

• U.S. District Court/DC, No. 02-1434 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But Case 
Dismissed w/prejudice)  

• U.S. District Court/DC, No. 02-1435 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But Case 
Dismissed w/prejudice)  

• U.S. District Court/DC, No. 03-2160 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But Case 
Dismissed w/prejudice)  

• U.S. District Court/DC, No. 04-0422 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But Case 
Dismissed) 

• U.S. District Court/DC, No. 04-2040 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But Case 
Dismissed)  

• U.S. District Court/DC, No. 05-1993 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But Case 
Dismissed)  

• U.S. District Court/Charlotte, NC), No. 04-0065 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But 
Case Dismissed)  

• U.S. District Court/Charlotte, NC), No. 04-0344 (OBEYED 28 U.S.C. § 1916 But 
Case Dismissed)  

• DC Circuit, No. 02-5334 (VIOLATED THE LAW. Appeal denied.)  
• DC Circuit, No. 04-5316 (VIOLATED THE LAW. Appeal denied.)  
• DC Circuit, No. 05-5414 (VIOLATED THE LAW. Appeal denied.)  
• DC Circuit, No. 05-5429 (VIOLATED THE LAW. Appeal denied.)  

                                                                                                                                                                              
defended by its people, not destroyed. See generally 1 WINSTON CHURCHILL, THEIR FINEST HOUR 161-76, esp. 
174-76 (Houghton Mifflin Co. 1949). 
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• U.S. District Court/Little Rock, No. 06-0044. (VIOLATED THE LAW. Case 
Dismissed.)  

• 8th Circuit, Case No. 07-2400 (Refused to Place Appeal on the Docket for Non-
Payment of Exempted Filing Fee Ignoring the Seamen’s Suit law, 28 U.S.C. § 
1916.)  

• U.S. Supreme Court, Nos. 03-145 (VIOLATED THE LAW. Ignored Seamen’s 
Suit law, 28 U.S.C. § 1916. Denied Appeal Without Comment.)  

• U.S. Supreme Court, Nos. 04-1150 (VIOLATED THE LAW Ignored Seamen’s 
Suit law, 28 U.S.C. § 1916. Denied Appeal Without Comment.)  

• U.S. Supreme Court, Nos. 04M56 (VIOLATED THE LAW. Ignored Seamen’s 
Suit law, 28 U.S.C. § 1916. Denied Appeal Without Comment.)  

Beacon Const. Co., Inc. v. Matco Elec. Co., Inc., C.A.2. (NY) 1975, 521 f.2D 392 ( [Title 28, 
U.S. Code, Part VI – Particular Proceedings; Chapter 151 Declaratory Judgments] should be liberally 
construed to accomplish its intended purpose of affording a speedy and inexpensive method of 
adjudicating legal disputes without invoking coercive remedies of old procedures, and to settle legal 
rights from legal relationships without awaiting violations of rights or disturbances of relationships.) 

Sherwood Medical Industries, Inc., v. Deknatel, Inc., C.A.8 (Mo.) 1975, 512 F.2d 724, 185 
U.S.P.Q. 133 ( [Title 28, U.S. Code, Part VI – Particular Proceedings; Chapter 151 Declaratory 
Judgments, § 2201 Creation of Remedy] is to be liberally construed to accomplish its purpose of 
providing a speedy and inexpensive method of adjudicating legal disputes without invoking coercive 
remedies and is not to be interpreted in a narrow or technical sense.) 

Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Zurich Ins. Co. N.D. Ill. 1969, 299 F.Supp. 518. (Question of relief 
under [Title 28, U.S. Code, Part VI – Particular Proceedings; Chapter 151 Declaratory Judgments, § 
2201 Creation of Remedy] be liberally construed in order to effectuate the purpose for which this 
section was intended, apecifically to alleviate uncertainty with respect to legal rights and obligations.)  

Tucson v. Clemmer, C.A.4 (Va.) 1956, 231 F.2d 658. See also Hurley v. Lindsay, C.A. Va. 
1953, 207 F.2d 410. (It is the primary purpose of [Title 28, U.S. Code, Part VI – Particular 
Proceedings; Chapter 151 Declaratory Judgments, § 2201 Creation of Remedy], to have a declaration 
of rights not theretofore determined, and not to determine whether rights theretofore adjudiciated 
have been properly adjudicated.)  

Broadview Chemical Corp. v. Loctite Corp. C.A.2 (Conn.) 1973, 474 F.2d 1391, 177 U.S.P.Q. 
235 (Distrrict courts have broad discretion in moulding their declaratory judgment decrees to fit 
circumstances of particular case.)  

Deveraux v. City of Chicago, C.A. 7 (Ill) 1994. 14 F.3rd 328. (Declaratory Judgment Act 
expands scope of available remedies and permits persons to seek declaration of constitutionality of 
disputed government action.)  

28 U.S.C.A. § 2201 CREATION OF REMEDY, pp. 472-373 at § 309 Substantial Controversy – 
Considerations Governing, Actual Controversy, Generally). (While difference between an abstract 
question and an actual controversy contemplated by this section is nessarily one of degree, the basic 
question is whether the facts alleged show a substantial controversy, between parties having adverse 
legal interests, of sufficient immediacy and reality to warrant a declaratory judgment. (citations 
omitted) (with a long list of cases beginning with Evers v. Dwyer, 358 U.S. 202 (1958)).  

Employers Ass’n of New Jersey v. State of New Jersey, D.C.N.J. 1985, 601 F.Supp. 232, affirmed 
774 F.2d 1151, affirmed 774 F.2d 1152. (A case is ripe for declaratory relief under the Declaratory 
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Judgment Act where there is a substantial controversy between parties having adverse legal interests 
of sufficient immediacy and reality to warrant issuance of a declaratory judgment.)  

Dow Jones & Co., Inc. v. Harrods, Ltd., S.D.N.Y. 2002, 237 F.Supp.2d 394, affirmed 346 F.3d 357. 
(Actual controversy standard of justicibility under Declaratory Judgment Act (DJA) is conceptually 
linked to doctrine of ripeness, requiring that claim of threatened injury be of direct and immediate 
impact and injury sufficiently likely to occur so as to render issue appropriate for judicial review.)  

Dow Jones & Co., Inc. v. Harrods, Ltd., S.D.N.Y. 2002, 237 F.Supp.2d 394, affirmed 346 F.3d 357. 
(Difference between definite, concrete, and substantial controversies which are justiciable under 
Declaratory Judgment Act, and hypothetical, abstract, or academic ones which are not justiciable, is 
one of degree, to be determined on case by case basis.) 
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